
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 

 

 

PALLAVI HARDIN §  

 §  

 Plaintiff, §  

 §  

v. § CIVIL ACTION NO.: 4:19-cv-4481 

 §  

OCCIDENTAL PETROLEUM §  JURY DEMANDED 

 §  

 Defendant. §  

 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

TO THE HONORABLE U.S. DISTRICT COURT JUDGE: 

 Plaintiff Pallavi Hardin files this Original Complaint, complaining of and about Defendant 

Occidental Petroleum Corporation (“Oxy” or “Defendant”), and will respectfully show onto the 

Court as follows:  

I. PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Pallavi Hardin is an individual residing in Fort Bend County, Texas.   

2. Defendant Occidental Petroleum is a corporation formed in the state of Delaware 

with its headquarters in Houston, Texas, and may be served with summons in this matter through 

its registered agent CT Corporation at 1999 Bryan St., Suite 900, Dallas, Texas 75201-3136.  

II.  JURISDICTION 

3. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as Plaintiff’s causes of 

action arise under federal statutes, namely the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, (“ADA”) 
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42 USC §§ 12102 et seq., and the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act (“TCHRA”), as 

Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff and failed to accommodate her based on her disabilities. 

4. This suit further arises under 29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq., the Family and Medical 

Leave Act (“FMLA”). 

5. Additionally, this Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 

over Plaintiff’s similar state law claims that arise under the TCHRA, codified in Chapter 21 of the 

Texas Labor Code. TEX. LAB. CODE § 21.001 et seq., because such claims are so related to the 

claims within the Court’s original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy, 

under Article 3 of the United States Constitution.  

6. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Texas – Houston Division pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1391(a), because this is the judicial district where a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claim occurred. 

III.  NATURE OF THE ACTION 

7. This action is brought pursuant to ADA, FMLA, and TCHRA. Plaintiff was 

discriminated against on the basis of her reproductive disability. Further, Plaintiff was retaliated 

against after requesting and taking FMLA leave. Oxy retaliated against Plaintiff for pursuing her 

protected rights, in violation of the ADA and FMLA. This action seeks to recover damages caused 

to Plaintiff by Defendant’s unlawful and discriminatory employment practices, including damages 

caused by Oxy’s retaliation. 

8. This is also an action to correct and recover for Defendant’s TCHRA violations. 

Specifically, Plaintiff complains that Defendant discriminated and retaliated against her based on 

the perception of disability and engaging in protected activities. See Texas Labor Case § 21.001 et 

seq.  
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IV.   EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

9. On November 22, 2017, Plaintiff filed a charge with the U.S. Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) against Defendant for discrimination based on disability and 

FMLA retaliation (Charge No. 460-2018-00850C).  

10. Subsequently, the EEOC issued Plaintiff a Notice of Right to Sue, dated August 28, 

2019. Plaintiff files this lawsuit within ninety (90) days of receiving the Notice. Therefore, this 

lawsuit is timely filed. 

V.  FACTS 

11. Hardin worked as a Senior Production Engineer for Oxy beginning October 27, 

2014.  By all accounts Hardin performed well in her role, earning positive reviews and several ‘on 

the spot’ bonus awards from her supervisors. Her future with the Company appeared to be very 

bright until Hardin was forced to take medical leave after suffering a stillbirth in August of 2016. 

Hardin was understandably shaken by the sudden and unexpected loss of her child. In addition to 

this unspeakable grief, Hardin continued to suffer from medical complications associated with the 

pregnancy.  

12. In January of 2017, Hardin was released to return to work by her doctors. Although 

she was grateful for the opportunity to resume her career with Oxy, Hardin was still in the very 

beginning stages of a long journey to full recovery. She continued to undergo multiple follow-up 

medical appointments related to her condition. Despite her ongoing treatment, Hardin was 

consistently able to perform the essential functions of her position. Hardin worked hard to 

minimize the impact that the medical appointments had on her schedule and work product. 

Regardless of her efforts, it soon became clear that her supervisors at Oxy had grown weary of the 

inconvenience of her necessary follow-up medical appointments.  
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13. Shortly after returning to her position, Hardin began to receive scrutiny in a manner 

that she had not experienced prior to going on out leave. Hardin received a great deal of resistance 

from her supervisors whenever she needed to attend follow-up appointments. On or about June 15, 

2017, Hardin was directed to attend a meeting with members of both the Human Resources and 

Occupational Health department to discuss her condition. At the conclusion of that meeting, 

Hardin was ordered to request advanced written permission to attend any future doctor 

appointments. While she was not opposed to keeping her supervisors in the loop about her 

condition, Hardin was concerned about the timing and selective application of this requirement. 

Hardin later noticed a sharp decline in the number of projects and assignments that she was placed 

on following that discussion. The tone of the meeting along with the series of events that followed 

indicated that the sole purpose of the requirement was to build a case to terminate her employment. 

14. Despite consistently positive feedback on her work, Hardin was greatly concerned 

about her future with Oxy following her meeting with Human Resources and Occupational Health. 

To comply with the Company’s new directive, Hardin postponed, rescheduled or missed several 

appointments with her doctors. During this same time, she and her husband and were notified that 

their application for adoption had finally been approved. While this was a joyous occasion for 

Hardin and her family, she was reluctant to discuss the adoption with her supervisors. 

15. Hardin and her husband had been working diligently for three years to adopt a child 

from India. Due to the uncertainty of international adoptions, Hardin has been especially guarded 

about sharing information with her colleagues and supervisors. However, on June 27, 2017, Hardin 

and her husband’s hard work was rewarded when they were given the date to travel to India and 

bring their child home. Although Hardin remained concerned about her future with Oxy, her only 

option at that point was to request time off to complete the adoption process. Hardin researched 
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the Oxy employee handbook for company’s adoption policies. This was of tremendous 

significance to Hardin because she was aware that her child’s special needs would make it difficult 

to predict the exact amount of time that Hardin would need to request. Finding no applicable 

policy, Hardin informed her supervisor Shin San about the adoption and requested time off on or 

about June 28, 2017. Hardin also shared additional details regarding her child’s medical condition. 

At the conclusion of the meeting, Hardin asked if she needed to provide additional information or 

speak directly with Human Resources. Hardin was told not to speak with Human Resources. 

Instead, Ms. San took the issue to her boss, Senior Manager Daniel Holderman. 

16. On or about June 29, 2017, Hardin was directed to meet with Mr. Holderman about 

the adoption. During the meeting, Hardin expressed her desire to request the minimum amount of 

time off necessary. She estimated that she would need to spend between four to six weeks in India 

to complete the legal process and two weeks at home for bonding and to secure medical specialists 

to treat her son’s condition. Hardin estimated that the entire process could be completed in two 

months. After Hardin raised the issue of her son’s health, Mr. Holderman suggested that Hardin 

may need to request as much as four months off. Hardin expressed concern that requesting that 

much time off would place her career in jeopardy. Despite her reservations, Hardin trusted Mr. 

Holderman and believed that she had his support. Upon his recommendation, Hardin authorized 

him to request four months of leave to complete the adoption process.  

17. Unfortunately, Hardin’s concerns about her career were realized after Mr. 

Holderman placed her request. On or about July 11, 2017, Hardin was directed to attend a meeting 

with Human Resources where she was offered two shockingly cruel options. Hardin was told that 

she was not eligible for a single day of leave and could either resign from her position or pick up 

her child after her FMLA leave was restored. Hardin explained that due to her son’s medical 

Case 4:19-cv-04481   Document 1   Filed on 11/14/19 in TXSD   Page 5 of 10



6 

Plaintiff’s Original Complaint 

condition, she did not have the option of waiting to bring him home. When Hardin asked for written 

verification of this policy, she was told that the decision was made by individuals at Oxy’s 

corporate office, and there was no option for review. 

18. Surprisingly, the next day Hardin was contacted again by Human Resources and 

told that she could take up to three weeks of leave. In another odd reversal, Hardin was told on or 

about July 12, 2017, that she actually had less than two weeks of available leave time. These 

shortened time frames appeared arbitrary but were chosen to discriminate against Hardin as she 

had previously explained that it would be impossible to return from India with her child in less 

than four weeks’ time. Hardin was again advised to resign—this time by General Manager Mark 

Grommesh—and was told that if she did not voluntarily resign, Oxy would terminate her and 

report her as “not in good standing” to future employers. Hardin did not resign but was ultimately 

terminated after returning from leave. 

19. Oxy’s history of restricting her access to her medical appointments and shifting 

explanations regarding her entitlement to leave indicates that it denied her request based on the 

belief that Hardin would miss additional time caring for her special needs child. 

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION 

A. ADA DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION  

26. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing allegations in each of the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

27. Plaintiff hereby asserts that Oxy’s termination of her employment was in direct 

violation of the ADA and concurrent Texas law. 
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28. Plaintiff alleges that she is actually disabled, as defined under the ADA and 

concurrent Texas law. Her evaluations and prescribed medicine reveal that she is protected by 

the ADA. 

29. Plaintiff alleges, in the alternative, that Defendant improperly regarded her as 

disabled, as defined by the ADA and concurrent Texas Law, insofar as the same misconceptions 

of disability and individuals who have a mental illness or impairment. Despite her diagnosis, 

the plaintiff completed her work and was a good employee. 

30. Plaintiff specifically pleads her right to recover punitive damages from the 

Defendant under the ADA as Defendant acted with intentional and callous disregard for 

Plaintiff's federally protected rights. Plaintiff was discriminated against because of her ADA 

status during her period of employment. 

B. TCHRA DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION 

31. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing allegations in each of the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

32. Defendant’s conduct constitutes violations of Chapter 21, of the Texas Labor Code 

(the TCHRA). See Tex. Lab. Code §21.001 et seq. Specifically, Defendant has discriminated 

against Plaintiff because of her disabilities in violation of §§ 21.051 and 21.055 of the Texas 

Labor Code, which states in relevant part that: 

[a]n employer commits an unlawful employment practice if because of race, 

color, disability, religion, sex, national origin, or age, the employer (1) fails 

or refuses to hire an individual, discharges an individual, or discriminates 

in any other manner against an individual in connection with compensation 

or the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment; or (2) limits, 

segregates, or classifies an employee or applicant for employment in a 

manner that would deprive or tend to deprive an individual of any 

employment opportunity or adversely affect in any manner the status of an 

employee.  
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33. Plaintiff’s rights were violated when she was not reasonably accommodated after 

numerous requests. Plaintiff’s rights were also violated when she lost promotional and career 

opportunities based on her disability. Additionally, the conduct described herein created a hostile 

work environment under Texas law. 

C. FMLA RETALIATION 

34. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing allegations in each of the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

35. Plaintiff was qualified for medical leave under the FMLA. 

36. Plaintiff complied with all reasonable requests from Oxy for information 

regarding her medical leave. 

37. Defendant, through its employees, interfered with Plaintiff’s FMLA leave and 

retaliated against Plaintiff for requesting and taking FMLA leave.  

38. Defendant’s actions were knowing and intentional violations of the FMLA or in 

reckless disregard of the FMLA and Plaintiff’s rights.  

39. Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of the violation. Defendants are liable 

for damages recoverable under the FMLA, including back pay, interest on back pay, front pay, 

lost benefits, liquidated damages, and attorney's fees, to which she is entitled under the FMLA. 

D. ADA RETALIATION 

40. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing allegations in each of the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

41. Defendant intentionally retaliated against Plaintiff after making requests for 

accommodation in violation of the ADA. 
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E. TCHRA RETALIATION 

42. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the foregoing allegations in each of the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

43. Defendant intentionally retaliated against Plaintiff because of her opposition to 

Defendant’s discriminatory practices in violation of the Texas Labor Code § 21.055.  

VII.  JURY DEMAND 

44. Plaintiff demands a jury on all issues to be tried in this matter. Plaintiff submits the 

jury demand and herein submit the jury fee. 

VIII. PRAYER 

45. WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff prays that Defendant be 

cited to appear and answer herein, and that on final trial, Plaintiff have judgment against Defendant 

for: 

a. All damages to which Plaintiff may be entitled pursuant to this Original Complaint, 

or any amendments thereto, including but not limited to back pay, future wages, 

reinstatement, upgrading, and compensation for benefits not received; 

b. Compensatory damages, including, but not limited to, emotional distress; 

 

c. Past, present, and future physical pain and mental suffering; 

 

d. Punitive damages; 

 

e. Reasonable attorneys’ fees, as allowed by law (with conditional awards in the 

event of appeal); 

f. Pre-judgment interest at the highest rate permitted by law; 

 

g. Post-judgment interest from the judgment until paid at the highest rate permitted 

by law; 

h. Costs of Court; and 
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i. Such other and further relief, at law or in equity, to which Plaintiff may be 

entitled, whether by this Original Complaint or by any proper amendments 

thereto. 

Respectfully submitted,  

  

 

 _________________________ 

   Alfonso Kennard, Jr.  

   Texas Bar No. 24036888 

   S.D. ID 713316 

   2603 Augusta Dr., Suite 1450 

   Houston, Texas 77057 

   Telephone: (713) 742-0900 

   Facsimile: (713) 742-0951  

   Email: alfonso.kennard@kennardlaw.com  

   ATTORNEY-IN-CHARGE FOR PLAINTIFF 

 

CO-COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF:  

 
 

Kevin T. Kennedy 

Texas Bar No. 24009053 

Southern District No. 305324 

2603 Augusta Drive, 14th Floor 

Houston, Texas  77057 

(713) 742-0900 (main) 

(713) 742-0951 (facsimile) 

kevin.kennedy@kennardlaw.com 

 

Case 4:19-cv-04481   Document 1   Filed on 11/14/19 in TXSD   Page 10 of 10

mailto:alfonso.kennard@kennardlaw.com
mailto:alfonso.kennard@kennardlaw.com
mailto:kevin.kennedy@kennardlaw.com
mailto:kevin.kennedy@kennardlaw.com

